THE COHESION-TENSION MECHANISM AND THE ACQUISITION OF WATER BY PLANT ROOTS

Ernst Steudle

Lehrstuhl Pflanzenökologie, Universität Bayreuth, D-95440 Bayreuth, Germany; e-mail: ernst.steudle@uni-bayreuth.de

Key Words cavitation, cohesion-tension theory, composite-transport model, pressure probe, root hydraulics

■ Abstract The physical basis and evidence in support of the cohesion-tension theory of the ascent of sap in plants are reviewed. The focus is on the recent discussion of challenges to the cohesion-tension mechanism based on measurements with the pressure probe. Limitations of pressure probes to measure tensions (negative pressures) in intact transpiring plants are critically assessed. The possible role of the cohesion-tension mechanism during the acquisition of water and solutes by plant roots is discussed.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
ESSENTIAL FEATURES OF THE COHESION-TENSION MECHANISM 848
TENSILE STRENGTH OF WATER, CAVITATION AVOIDANCE, AND
GAS-SEEDING THEORY
THEORETICAL APPROACHES
EXPERIMENTAL VALUES OF TENSILE STRENGTH
VAPOR-SEEDING MECHANISMS (HOMOGENOUS NUCLEATION)
HETEROGENOUS NUCLEATION AND EFFECTS OF GASES
DISSOLVED IN XYLEM SAP 853
OLDER EVIDENCE IN FAVOR OF THE CT-THEORY
THE SCHOLANDER-HAMMEL PRESSURE BOMB 855
RECENT EVIDENCE AGAINST THE CT-THEORY 857
RECENT EVIDENCE FROM PRESSURE PROBE EXPERIMENTS IN
FAVOR OF THE CT-MECHANISM
REFILLING MECHANISMS
ROLE OF COHESION-TENSION DURING WATER ACQUISITION
AND TRANSPORT BY ROOTS 861
VARIABLE ROOT HYDRAULIC RESISTANCE
PATHWAYS FOR WATER AND SOLUTES
COMPOSITE TRANSPORT MODEL OF ROOT

PHYSIOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES OF COMPOSITE TRANSPORT	
AND ROLE OF COHESION TENSION	865
ROLE OF COHESION TENSION ON WATER CHANNELS IN ROOTS	867
CONCLUSIONS	867

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, the validity of the cohesion-tension (CT) theory of the ascent of sap in plants has been questioned by Professor Ulrich Zimmermann and his colleagues at the University of Würzburg, Germany (4, 59, 143–145). Since the theory established over 100 years ago by Böhm (7) plays a key role in our understanding of the functioning of plants, the challenge has provoked a lively ongoing debate (e.g. 19a, 61, 67, 91, 97, 98, 113, 117, 128). New experimental approaches have been used to test the validity of the theory (19, 41, 73, 127, 129). Alternative or additional mechanisms have been proposed to explain the movement of water up to the top of the tallest trees (13, 14, 144). The topic has been reviewed recently by Tyree (117), who concluded that the evidence in favor of the cohesion-tension mechanism is strong, and by Tomos & Leigh (113), who discussed some aspects of pressure probe techniques involving the measurement of negative pressure. Unlike Tyree, Tomos & Leigh, perhaps still mindful of the intensity induced by the challenge to the cohesion-tension mechanism, avoid a clear judgment, namely a critical assessment of the use of pressure probes to measure tensions (negative pressures).

This review provides the physical background of the CT-mechanism, which necessitates a brief historical perspective, then discusses problems with the mechanism and recent evidence for and against it. The second part of the review considers the role of the cohesion-tension mechanism in the context of water acquisition by plant roots: how plants use both variable tension in the xylem and variable hydraulic properties of roots to regulate water uptake. Evidence that the uptake of certain solutes and their transport across the root may be affected by the CTmechanism is reviewed.

ESSENTIAL FEATURES OF THE COHESION-TENSION MECHANISM

The CT-theory relies on basic physical properties of water and on some assumptions that may be summarized as follows:

- Water has high cohesive forces. It can be subjected to from some ten to several hundred MPa before columns break. When subjected to tensions, water is in a metastable state, i.e. pressure in xylem vessels is much smaller than the equilibrium water vapor pressure at the given temperature.
- Walls of vessels represent the weak part of the system. They may contain air or seeds of water vapor. When a critical tension is reached in the lumen

of xylem vessels, pits in vessel walls allow the passage of air through them, resulting in cavitation (embolism).

- Water in vessels of higher plants forms a continuous system from evaporating surfaces in the leaves to absorbing surfaces of the roots and into the soil (soil-plant-air-continuum; SPAC). With few exceptions, water flow within the SPAC is hydraulic in nature, and the system can be described as a network of resistors arranged in series and in parallel (123a).
- Evaporation from leaves lowers their water potential and causes water to move from the xylem to evaporating cells across leaf tissue. This reduces the pressure in the xylem, often to values well below zero (vacuum).
- Gradients in pressure (water potential) are established along transpiring plants; this causes an inflow of water from the soil into the roots and to the transpiring surfaces in the leaves.

According to these features, the cohesion-tension theory provides both a mechanism for the flow across the plant and the force driving it. The difference in water potential between the atmosphere and soil would usually be sufficient to provide enough force for even the tallest trees. However, the mechanism requires high tensions in the xylem to operate, and it is hard to envisage how these tensions could be maintained long enough. For example, it is difficult to construct a mechanical pump that would suck water from the top of a water column longer than 10 m (equivalent to 1 bar of pressure) without causing failure by cavitation. It is much easier to use positive pressures applied at the bottom. The critical question therefore is whether the tensile strength of water is sufficient to sustain states of high tension and, if so, what are the conditions required to maintain it.

TENSILE STRENGTH OF WATER, CAVITATION AVOIDANCE, AND GAS-SEEDING THEORY

Unlike the gas phase, the forces acting between molecules are high in condensed phases. Hence, liquids and solids can be subjected to high tensional forces until they fail. This may be understandable with solids such as a bar of steel, but is less intuitive for liquids. Failure by cavitation (gas embolism) is much more likely in liquids, allowing seeding caused by bubbles of water vapor or air to dominate. Liquids free of such seeds should be able to withstand very high tensions. Their tensile strength measured as the tension to be applied to cause failure is high. For a polar liquid such as water, measured values range between 5 and 140 MPa (6, 11, 80, 123, 136); the range is much smaller for nonpolar liquids such as liquid helium (1 MPa; 55). The theory of tensile properties of liquids is well developed (29, 55, 90, 112, 114). Experimental values are smaller by one to two orders of magnitude than the theoretical, because heterogenous rather than the homogenous nucleation usually dominates. During heterogenous nucleation, cavitation is initiated by gas seeds of a critical size at surfaces of vessels or by solid impurities in

the liquid, i.e. by residues of air lodged on these surfaces. Homogenous nucleation is initiated by bubbles of water vapor produced spontaneously within the liquid. This process of spontaneous formation of gas bubbles is much less probable than embolism caused by preexisting seeds. From a thermodynamic point of view, a liquid under tension is in a metastable state, i.e., it tends to proceed to a state equilibrium and to form bubbles in which the vapor assumes the equilibrium value at the given temperature, which is larger than zero (vacuum) for all liquids. For water, the equilibrium vapor pressure would be 2.3 kPa at 20°C.

THEORETICAL APPROACHES

In a simple theoretical approach, the tensile strength may be calculated from the energy stored in hydrogen bonds. Taking a value of 25 kJ/mole stored in these bonds (44), an internal (cohesion) pressure of 1400 MPa (14,000 bar) is calculated by dividing the figure given by the molar volume of water $(18 \cdot 10^{-6} \text{ m}^3/\text{mole})$. This is a high value that may be reduced by the fact that, because of thermal motion, not all of the bonds will be intact at room temperature. However, even if only 80% were intact, the resulting figure of 1,100 MPa is still high, far in excess of what a plant would need to pull water from the soil into the transpiring leaf of the tallest trees.

In a more rigorous approach, the attractive forces acting in a liquid between molecules can be expressed as a change in internal energy (U) divided by the change in volume (V) of the liquid, i.e. by $(\partial U/\partial V)_T$. This term has the dimension of a pressure at constant temperature (T), and is called internal pressure. The action of the internal pressure caused by the attraction between molecules will be counteracted by the thermal pressure, which derives from the thermal motion of molecules tending to increase volume, i.e. $T(\partial P/\partial T)_V$. $(\partial P/\partial T)_V$ is called the thermal coefficient of pressure. In contrast to the energetic term, $(\partial P/\partial T)_V$ represents an entropic term $(=(\partial S/\partial V)_T)$ as is easily understood. Together with the external (measurable) pressure or tension (P) acting in a liquid (such as the positive turgor pressure of cells or the negative pressure exerted on water in a vessel of a transpiring plant), the internal pressure just balances the thermal pressure, i.e.:

$$(\partial U/\partial V)_T + P = T(\partial P/\partial T)_V.$$
 1.

Interestingly, physical chemists sometimes call $(\partial U/\partial V)_T$ 'cohesion pressure' of a liquid or solid, which relates to the background of the cohesion-tension theory of botanists and is based on a high $(\partial U/\partial V)_T$ of xylem solution. For water, there are tabulated values of either $(\partial P/\partial T)_V$, or of the more common coefficients of thermal expansivity, $\alpha = 1/V \cdot (\partial V/\partial T)_P$, and isothermal compressibility, $\beta = -1/V \cdot (\partial V/\partial P)_T$, which are related to the coefficient of thermal tension by $(\partial P/\partial T)_V = \alpha/\beta$ (see textbooks of physical chemistry). For liquids, $\alpha \approx 10^{-3} \text{ K}^{-1}$ and $\beta \approx 10^{-3} \text{ MPa}^{-1}$. Hence, we obtain an estimate of 300 MPa (3000 bars) for the cohesion pressure of water (T = 300 K). For solids, both the thermal coefficient and the compressibility are lower than for liquids which results in similar values for the coefficient of thermal tension. From a thermodynamic point of view, the cohesion-tension mechanism has a sound basis. In the presence of gas, the tensile strength of the xylem liquid would be lost. By definition, $(\partial U/\partial V)_T$ is zero for an ideal gas.

Other attempts to calculate the tensile strength of liquid water have employed the van der Waals equation, or critical tensions have been derived from the latent heat of evaporation (e.g. 112). In summary, the different theoretical approaches resulted in values for the tensile strength of water ranging between 50 and 1400 MPa. For condensed phases, it is difficult to estimate maximum tensions because there is no unique equation of state.

EXPERIMENTAL VALUES OF TENSILE STRENGTH

The Belgian chemist Donny (25) and the French physical chemist Berthelot (6) were problably the first to demonstrate experimentally tensions in liquids. Donny used a U-shaped glass tube in which one arm was sealed and the other left open or connected to a vacuum pump. When the sealed arm of the U-tube was filled with concentrated sulphuric acid, the height of the liquid column was larger than that equivalent to atmospheric pressure. Berthelot encased water in quartz tubes at elevated temperature. When the tubes were subsequently cooled, they were able to withstand tensions of up to 5 MPa (50 bar) before failing, with an audible click and with the appearance of a bubble of water vapor. Tensions within the liquid were caused by the water in the tubes contracting more than the quartz. Reynolds (77) performed experiments similar to Donny's, using mercury to fill the tubes. Later, Reynolds (78) also used U-shaped tubes that he rotated to produce centrifugal forces on the liquid, which resulted in tensions. This technique has later received greater attention in experiments by Briggs (11), and more recently by Holbrook et al (41) and Pockman et al (73). Ursprung (123) was the first to estimate the tensile strength of liquid water using a botanical object. The annulus cells of fern sporangia open at a sufficient tension within the cell sap that is usually caused by withdrawal of liquid water by evaporation. Imitating evaporation, Ursprung used highly concentrated sucrose solutions to produce a surroundings of low water potential next to the fern sporangia. He measured a maximum tensile strength of water of as large as 30 MPa (300 bar). Briggs (11) found a similar value in his famous spinning experiments with Z-shaped glass capillaries (see above).

More recently, Roedder (80) found evidence for high tensions in microscopic inclusions of water or electrolyte solution in certain naturally occurring minerals. The water in the inclusions melted at temperatures substantially higher than 0°C, even at +6.5°C in one case. Extrapolation from the melting point line indicated that this corresponded to a tension as large as 95 MPa. Zheng et al (136) used an inclusion technique to artificially prepare microfissures of water in quartz and

other minerals, which were healed at high temperature and pressure to provide a high density of the water within the inclusions. When recovered at room temperature, some of the inclusions developed tensions of up to 140 MPa at densities of the liquid water substantially smaller than 1 g/cm³ (0.5-0.7 g/cm³). Hence, the water was substantially stretched and tensions came close to the limit at which the compressibility should become infinite (i.e. $(\partial P/\partial V)T = 0)$ and the velocity of sound zero. The theory predicts a 'spinodal line' at which this is the case (90). This line originates at the critical point and extends into the range of negative pressure. Since the spinodal line is not expected to be reached, the figure of 140 MPa of Zheng et al (136) may indicate a value of the tensile strength of water close to the ultimate limit. Maris & Balibar (55) recently performed experiments similar to those with water using liquid helium close to the absolute zero. According to the nonpolar nature of this solute, maximum tensions were only a few bar, with a maximum at 9.5 bar. Although liquid helium may be an exotic substance in plant physiology, the figure is instructive nevertheless because it indicates a lower limit of the tensile strength of liquids. The large differences between measured values of tensile strength for water are due to problems in eliminating heterogenous nucleation during the measurement.

VAPOR-SEEDING MECHANISMS (HOMOGENOUS NUCLEATION)

At a first sight, nucleation (vapor-seeding) in the bulk xylem sap may seem important, but actually it is not. On the contrary, spontaneous seeding in bulk solution (liquids) is an extremely rare event. When gas bubbles appear in a bulk solution under tension, they would need to reach a certain critical size in order to cause cavitation. Most of the very small seeds will rapidly disappear. As small bubbles grow, much more energy must be invested to overcome surface tension (surface energy) than is gained by volume expansion owing to the pressure gradient between bubble and the liquid under tension (volume work). The capillary pressure, P_{cap} , would be relevant, i.e. $P_{cap} = 2T/r$ (T = surface tension; 2r = diameter of void). When we look at the overall work (A) performed by a vapor bubble, we have:

$$A = 4\pi r^2 \cdot T + 4\pi/3r^3(P - P_w).$$
 1.

Here, the terms $4\pi r^2 \cdot T$ and $4\pi/3r^3(P - P_w)$ represent the surface energy and volume work, respectively, and *P* and *P_w* represent the pressure in the solution and the water vapor pressure in the bubble. Since P < 0 and $|P| \gg P_w \approx 0$, the first term on the right side of Equation 1 has a positive and the other one a negative sign. With increasing bubble size, the volume work term grows faster than the surface tension term. Hence, there should be a maximum of *A*, where it holds that dA/dr = 0. At the maximum, we get from Equation 1:

$$P_{cap} = 2T/r. 2.$$

This is the equation for capillary pressure, mentioned above. Physically, it means that at maximum A, the capillary pressure just balances the forces externally exerted. When the bubble size is increased further, there is a dramatic increase in size, i.e. a cavitation. We may use the value of P_{cap} to calculate the work done by the system in the maximum, A_{max} :

$$A_{max} = \frac{16\pi \cdot T^3}{3 \cdot P^2}.$$
 3.

The rate for the formation of 'successful' gas seeds (J) can be now given using the Boltzmann distribution function, i.e. by describing the rate of gas seeding in a way analagous to the Arrhenius equation used to express rates of chemical reactions as a function of temperature (29):

$$J = J_o \cdot \exp -\{(A_{max} + \Delta h_V)/kT\}.$$
4.

The heat of evaporation of water Δh_V has to be added to the overall activation energy because the growth of seeds requires evaporation of liquid water to maintain P_w at the saturation value. However, this second term is usually negligible compared with A_{max} . In the context of seeding processes as they occur in the xylem of transpiring plants, A_{max} decreases with second power of tension (P), i.e. at high tensions the probability of homogenous gas seeding should be much more pronounced than at low tensions. However, since the exponential factor is usually very small at tensions that are of interest in the xylem, homogenous nucleation rarely causes cavitation. It should be noted that the constant factor J_o in Equation 4 is proportional to the amount of liquid (water) under consideration. This reminds of the traditional view that events of cavitation should occur more often in vessel members having a bigger volume than tracheids (141). According to the very small absolute value of the exponential term this is, however, meaningless. Air-seeding through pit membranes should dominate, i.e. heterogenous nucleation.

HETEROGENOUS NUCLEATION AND EFFECTS OF GASES DISSOLVED IN XYLEM SAP

Heterogenous nucleation may occur at vessel walls due to existing gas (air) residues or in some kind of a catalytic process at these surfaces (for a classification of processes, see 117). Alternatively, air-seeding occurs across pit membrane pores. The critical pressure difference at which this occurs is again given by the capillary pressure equation, with 2r being the diameter of the pores. Since homogenous nucleation is such a rare event, most of the seeding should occur at or through surfaces such as the glass or metal surfaces of a container without pores or the xylem vessels containing pit pores. According to the size of the fissures and the gas residues contained by a glass surface, cavitation will occur when a critical size of tension is reached in the solution. From the equation for capillary pressure (Equation 2), one can calculate that a bubble diameter of 3 μ m refers to a critical tension (pressure difference) of 0.1 MPa (1 bar). Accordingly, 1 MPa (10 bar) tension refers to $0.3 \ \mu m$ or 300 nm, i.e. to a bubble size that is smaller than the wavelength of visible light. The highest tensions of about 10 MPa that have been indirectly measured in the xylem of transpiring plants could only tolerate gas impurities as small as 30 nm without cavitation. This is an extremely small figure. Hence, the existence of such high tensions in the xylem has been questioned.

Xylem vessel walls are different in construction from those of a glass or metal container, which will have surface microfissures even when carefully polished. Hence, cavitation is unavoidable in these containers when critical tensions are attained. Xylem walls consist of a porous net of wettable polymers (cellulose, lignin, hemicelluloses, etc). Pores (interfibrillar spaces) are of an order of 10 nm, which corresponds to 30 MPa of capillary pressure. Hence the porous hydrophilic matrix will be imbibed with water like a sponge. According to the high capillary forces (negative matric potentials), no space will be left for air-seeds of sufficient size to cause embolism. The special capacity of xylem vessels to allow for a high tensile strength is based primarily on the porous structure of its completely wettable walls rather than on the tensile strength of the bulk xylem solution, which is not the limiting factor. Since interfibrillar spaces in vessel walls are smaller than the diameters of pores in pit membranes, the latter should usually limit the tension at which air-seeding occurs. This is in accordance with experiments in which airseeding across pit membranes has been directly demonstrated in the double-ended pressure chamber and other techniques (see below).

The fact that xylem solution usually contains dissolved gases (N_2, O_2, CO_2) should not affect its ability to withstand tensions. As for the formation of bubbles of water vapor in bulk solution, the formation of bubbles even in saturated or supersaturated solutions is a rare event. Kenrick et al (50) saturated liquids with gas at 100 atm and reduced pressure to 1 atm without effervescence. Kenrick et al (49) superheated water to 270°C under atmospheric pressure before it exploded. A superheated or supersaturated liquid should behave similarly to a liquid under tension. In the experiments, where water was superheated to 270°C, substantial internal tensions could be estimated. The supersaturation experiments indicate that air dissolved in the xylem sap should not affect its tensile strength. Therefore gases such as oxygen and nitrogen dissolved in the water taken up by plant roots or CO₂ developed by respiratory processes should pose no problem as long as they stay dissolved. An increase in temperature of xylem sap on its passage up the shoot may cause a problem when the solubility limit is reached. Freezing of xylem sap also reduces solubility, which would then cause cavitation. This phenomenon has long been known (141).

OLDER EVIDENCE IN FAVOR OF THE CT-THEORY

The Austrian botanist Böhm (7), the formulator of the CT-theory, was the first to conceive that states of tensions are involved in the ascent of sap in plants. He devised model experiments similar to those of Reynolds, but included transpiring

shoots to raise the column of mercury above atmospheric. Cavitation problems, however, seriously impeded the experiments. Nevertheless, Böhm demonstrated convincingly that cohesion-tension is the basic mechanism for the ascent of sap. even in tall trees. Böhm's experiments were continued by Dixon & Joly (24) and Askenasy (1), but broad acceptance of the idea of a cohesion-tension mechanism was slow in taking hold. Other mechanisms were favored such as tricky mechanisms of the ascent of sap in vessels in the presence of air bubbles ['Jaminsche Ketten', see (71); imbibition mechanism, see (82)]. The imbibition mechanism theory proposed that water moved up the plant by matric forces in the walls, as in a wick. Early on botanists had deduced that axial (long-distance) transport in the xylem is driven by passive mechanisms. Killing the cells around conducting vessels had no effect on the functioning of xylem (109). Thus the contribution of metabolism (vitalistic mechanisms) to the movement of water across the xylem received increasingly less attention. Recently, there have been attempts to revive these mechanisms. It has been claimed that tissue pressure (which originates from metabolic processes) supports the ascent of sap in the xylem and plays an important role during the refilling of cavitated vessels. However, these speculations have no real thermodynamic basis (13, 14; see below).

In 1911, Renner (76) provided the first quantitative data on the tensions present in shoots of transpiring plants. To measure transpiration, he used a capillary filled with water (potometer) that he attached to an excised transpiring twig. Using a clamp, he was able to partially interrupt the transport along the xylem, thus increasing the axial hydraulic resistance and tension. However, the high forces exerted in the vessels by transpiration made it difficult to completely interupt the flow. More important, Renner compared the suction force created by the twig with that of a vacuum pump and found that the tensions created by the twig were larger by a factor of up to 10 to 20 than that provided by the pump. He concluded that the pressures created by transpiration within the xylem must have been substantially smaller than vacuum. These experiments provided incontrovertible evidence that the tensions in the xylem were sufficient to move water, even through tall trees, and helped to resolve the controversies surrounding the mechanisms for the ascent of sap in plants (23). It was agreed that the ascent of water was a passive process ultimately driven by the evaporation of water from leaves, i.e. by the water potential difference between soil and the dry air, and that, in the absence of transpiration as the force driving water flow across the soil-plant-air-continuum, root pressure would serve as the auxiliary engine. Root exudation, however, is dependent on metabolic energy to create an osmotic gradient between soil solution and xylem.

THE SCHOLANDER-HAMMEL PRESSURE BOMB

Current support for the CT-mechanism comes mainly from indirect measurement of xylem pressure (water potential) using the pressure chamber re-invented by Scholander et al in 1965 (84, 119, 120). The pressure chamber or Scholander-Hammel

bomb is a compensation technique used widely to measure the water potential of shoots or parts thereof. When a transpiring shoot is excised from a plant, the tension (negative pessure) in the xylem is released to atmospheric causing an uptake of water into the leaf and stem cells. The original status of completely filled functioning vessels is then restored by applying air pressure to the sample in the chamber. When the vessels are refilled with xylem solution, the compensating or balancing pressure (P_b) is equal to the pressure in the xylem, as it was before excision, i.e. $P_x = -P_b$. Since the osmotic pressure of the xylem sap (π_x) is usually small in transpiring plants, $-P_{h}$ would also be a good measure of the water potential of the shoot, twig, or leaf under investigation. Note that the Scholander-Hammel bomb is based on osmotic (thermodynamic) equilibrium. Gradients within the sample prior to excision are leveled out. These gradients could be due either to a drop in water potential across the transpiring leaf (between stomata and xylem vessels) or to gradients within a shoot, a potentially important problem in rapidly transpiring leaves. By definition, the technique averages these gradients (5, 115). Consequently, there may be differences between the P_x measured directly in an intact plant and the average P_x measured with the pressure chamber (117, 127, 129), a factor sometimes overlooked when questioning the validity of the Scholander-Hammel bomb in measuring xylem pressure (4, 59). Nevertheless, averaged xylem pressures (water potentials) as measured with the Scholander-Hammel bomb have their physiological and ecological significance in that they represent a quantitative measure of the water status of plant samples and a measure of the force driving water between different parts of plant, e.g. between the root and the shoot.

Recently, Holbrook et al (41) combined the spinning technique of Reynolds (78) with the pressure chamber technique. They used excised stem segments with a single leaf attached at the midpoint of the segment, which they then rotated by a motor-driven shaft. Rotation caused a centrifugal tension at the midpoint that was sensed by the attached leaf. The P_x at the midpoint was calculated from the segment length and angular velocity of rotation and this value was then compared with the P_b measured in the leaf with a pressure chamber after centrifugation to check the validity of the measurements with the bomb. A 1:1 relationship was found between the two values for P_x values down to -1.8 MPa.

Using the Scholander-Hammel bomb, P_x values of as low as -10 MPa have been measured in water-stressed shoots (e.g. 52). According to theory this requires xylem solution that is quite free of air or water vapor seeds. Since capillary pressure also governs the seeding of air across vessel walls, pit pore diameters should also have been low. The porosity of pit-membranes rather than the volume of vessel members is critical in preventing dysfunction of vessels and, hence, withstanding drought stress (92). The genetics of pit morphology and porosity are hypothesized to have been under high selective pressure for plants that are adapted to arid habitats (117).

The mechanism of air-seeding across pit pores has been tested in double-ended pressure chambers (19). In this elegant technique, a shoot or branch sectioned at

both ends is bent around in a large pressure chamber so that the cut ends protrude into the atmosphere. With a capillary attached to one end, water could be passed continually through the segment under positive pressure from a water column and the flow rate measured by weighing at the other side. When gas (air) pressure is applied to the section in the bomb, the flow will decrease substantially to the point where the pressure difference between xylem (which is at atmospheric pressure) and bomb pressure exceeds the minimal value to cause air-seeding across pit pores. Vulnerability curves obtained in this technique indicate that air-seeding across pit pores is the mechansim driving most of the cavitation events (91). In a modification of this experiment (41), Pockman et al (73) also used centrifugation to cause cavitation in cut segments of shoots that were subjected to different tensional stresses in the xylem. Cavitation was then followed by measuring the axial hydraulic resistance of stem segments. As in the double-ended pressure chamber, air-seeding across pit pores was induced at pressure differences of a few MPa between atmosphere and xylem lumen.

RECENT EVIDENCE AGAINST THE CT-THEORY

For over 100 years, the validity of the cohesion-tension theory has occasionally been called into question [see Sachs (82); Pfeffer (71)]. More recently, Greenidge (34), Plumb & Bridgman (72), and Canny (13, 14) have questioned whether the tissue surrounding vessels contributes to the axial flow or if osmotic mechanisms play a significant role in transpiring plants. Given the large volume of water passing through transpiring plants, mechanisms based entirely on osmotic pressure provided by roots would cause enormous problems in getting rid of the osmotic solutes (e.g. nutrient salts) in the shoot as the water evaporates. Such elimination would only be possible by recycling via the phloem, resulting in a rapid turnaround of solutes at high metabolic costs.

Over the past decade, Zimmermann and his co-workers have been collecting evidence against the cohesion-tension mechanism. The Würzburg group used the cell pressure probe, earlier used to measure turgor of individual cells, to assess xylem pressure in intact transpiring plants (45, 95, 108, 113). The equipment, then called a 'xylem pressure probe' (4), was filled with water instead of low-viscosity silicone oil. The tip of the probe was carefully introduced into the xylem and its actual location was identified by the change in pressure, which tended to become negative (smaller than vacuum) as the xylem was punctured. These were the first direct measurements of xylem pressure in intact transpiring plants. They showed that xylem pressure chamber. The Scholander-Hammel bomb had not, therefore, been correctly measuring xylem pressure, P_x (water potential). In absolute terms, tensions of only a few tenths of a MPa (only a few bars) were found. In many cases, only subatmospheric pressures were recorded. However, as precision was gained, P_x values became more negative, with a minimum close to -1 MPa.

Even more remarkable was the finding that xylem pressure was not or was hardly affected by transpiration (4, 142). The finding of low tensions and the lack of dependence on transpiration led to the conclusion that the CT-mechanism of the ascent of sap in plants was not correct, or at the very least, it was not the dominating mechanism hitherto proposed. Other mechanisms such as the osmotic uptake of water into the xylem (i.e. root and stem pressures) or capillarity were more likely alternatives (144). Since problems with cavitations make direct measurement of tensions difficult experimentally, the finding that tensions measured with a probe tended to become bigger (pressure was more negative) may indicate greater skill in measuring tensions, which, in turn, made the authors more willing to accept the CT-theory, at least as an additive mechanism. Throughout, Zimmermann and co-workers barely discuss the actual position of the pressure probe in the tissue and the criteria whereby they ensured its location. Largely, it was the reaction in pressure that convinced them that the probe was in the lumen of functioning vessels. Under these conditions, they obtained less negative xylem pressures with the probe than with the Scholander-Hammel bomb. However, in a recent paper, a 1:1 relationship was demonstrated between xylem pressures measured with the pressure probe and the pressure chamber for corn and sugar cane under conditions of low transpiration (see above; 59). This relationship is in line with other observations and may indicate a change forthcoming in the debate (145). The conclusions from the pressure probe experiments by Zimmermann's group remain: (a) Cohesion-tension is not the dominating mechanism driving water across the SPAC, and (b) the Scholander-Hammel bomb incorrectly measures xylem tension.

This challenge to a key theory in plant water relations has had repercussions for other researchers in the field. The apparent difficulty of the CT-theory in explaining how water under high tension is sustained for long periods of time caused widespread reevaluation of the validity of the CT-mechanism. The problems with direct measurements underscore the fact that the xylem is a vulnerable pipe. The controversy over direct measurements of xylem pressure and the mechanism of refilling cavitated vessels remains very much alive (13, 14, 121, 146).

RECENT EVIDENCE FROM PRESSURE PROBE EXPERIMENTS IN FAVOR OF THE CT-MECHANISM

Direct measurements of xylem P_x with pressure probes may appear to be straightforward, with no further tests or critical assessments needed to check their validity, but this is not so. Earlier measurements in my lab in Bayreuth have shown that the pressure probe or similar devices may be used to measure tensions in small compartments such as in the root xylem or artificial osmotic cells (39, 97, 102, 137). While making these measurements, it became clear that the equipment was limited in its application to ranges of tensions smaller than ~0.8 MPa. These ranges, however, are smaller than those of interest within the context of the CT-theory. In 1997/98, the problem was reanalyzed in collaboration with Dr. Tyree and his student Chungfang Wei from the University of Vermont, using intact maize plants (127, 129). When properly secured, functioning vessels in the midribs of the leaves were accessible to puncturing with the probe. To improve the rate of puncturing, the pots with the roots of the plants were encased in big pressure chambers to apply pneumatic pressure to the root, thereby increasing P_x (lowering tension). By applying pulses of pressure to the roots, it was possible to follow rates of propagation of pressure (change in water potential) within the xylem from roots to shoots. According to the CT-theory and to the fact that root hydraulic conductance was high, pressure changes should rapidly propagate along the xylem when the pressure probe was in a functioning xylem vessel. If this condition did not obtain, measurements were disregarded. Hence, the proper position of the tip of the pressure probe could be tested rigorously.

When the tip of the probe was not located in a functioning vessel, there was a delay in the response, although the pressure was negative. When the tip was positioned outside the vessels, this may have resulted in a drop in pressure and in a response smaller than 1:1 between pressure applied to the root and pressure measured with the pressure probe. When pneumatic pressures were applied to the root, it was possible to verify whether the system was functioning properly. The tests ensured that during measurement, the tips of pressure probes remained open to allow for good hydraulic contact between the xylem vessel and the pressure transducer of the probe. With these precautions, P_x was measured in a range down to -1 MPa (-10 bars). However, the tendency of the system to cavitate increased with mounting tension (129). This result accords with earlier findings with artificial osmotic cells (102). In agreement with the CT-mechanism, xylem pressure immediately decreased when light intensity was increased, which caused a simultaneous increase in the measured rate of transpiration. In the early experiments from the Zimmermann lab, this response was missing or was hardly detectable (4, 142). The papers from the Zimmermann lab gave no indication how the functioning of the system was tested other than the occurrence of a negative pressure. In our experiments, it was shown that step changes in the applied pneumatic pressure caused a 1:1 response in P_x (see above). However, as P_x exceeded atmospheric pressure, the response in P_x became much smaller than 1:1. Under these conditions, guttation occurred at the leaf margins, which indicated that the drop in response was attributable to leakage out of the xylem. This explanation is reasonable in terms of shoot hydraulics and is in line with the CT-mechanism.

In separate experiments, xylem pressure, P_x , was first measured at a given rate of transpiration. The leaf tip in which the measurements had been performed was then harvested and P_x determined with the aid of a pressure chamber. Both results were in good agreement, i.e. there was a 1:1 agreement between $|P_x|$ and P_b . P_x of leaves of transpiring plants was slightly smaller, on average, than that of nontranspiring plants. However, as transpiration rates were small during the experiments, gradients within leaves should have been also small. The results obtained with the Scholander-Hammel bomb and with the cell pressure probe were therefore similar, at least in a range of xylem pressures of down to -1 MPa.

Most important was the fact that tensions were measurable only up to 1 MPa (10 bars) despite care to avoid cavitations caused by vibration, shaking of fixed leaves, etc. The pressure probe itself or the set-up with the probe in a vessel could well have been the reason for the limitation. We therefore tested the tensile strength of the probes in a series of experiments where tips of pressure probes completely filled with silicone oil were closed with glue. In a Berthelot-type experiment, tensions were set up by cooling the capillaries of probes with dry ice. The maximum tensile strength was about 1.6 to 1.8 MPa, which was much smaller than that of liquids in the absence of air-seeds at the walls (see above), but larger than the critical value of 1 MPa found during the experiments when the tip was in xylem vessels. The tensile strength of the probe may be regarded as low. However, a tensile strength of 1.6 to 1.8 MPa would be equivalent to seed diameters of 2r =190 to 170 nm, which is a fairly small value (wavelength of visible light: 400– 800 nm). Because internal surfaces in the probes are of differing materials (perspex, glass, silicone rubber, silicon), heterogenous seeding may occur at lower tensions than in the classical experiments that used only quartz tubes (6, 112). Tensile strength of 1.6 to 1.8 MPa is currently the limit for pressure probes. With the tip in a vessel, this limit was reduced further, perhaps because puncturing created porous by-passes in the wall next to the glass tip. Detailed tests of the tensile strength of pressure probes filled either with oil or with water indicated no substantial differences in their ability to sustain tensions (129). Indeed, oil-filled probes (used in Bayreuth) had a somewhat higher tensile strength than water-filled probes (used in Würzburg).

REFILLING MECHANISMS

Usually, it is assumed that refilling of cavitated vessels occurs when transpiration is switched off. Under these conditions, root and stem pressures play a predominant role. However, there are observations that refilling can occur even during the day, i.e. when xylem sap is still under tension (13, 14). Refilling has been followed by cryo-scanning electron microscopy just counting the number of cavitated vessels and measuring the water potential of the shoot during the day. It has been proposed that the tissue pressure generated by xylem parenchyma may cause refilling (and may also support the ascent of sap; 13). It is thought that the production of osmotic solutes (such as sugars derived from the degradation of starch) creates a high turgur in xylem parenchyma cells, which then causes some squeezing out of water from the tissue protoplasts into vessel lumina (14). Others have speculated that water would be driven into cavitated vessels by capillary forces (41a, 146). This, in turn, would increase the volume of droplets sitting at the vessel walls at atmospheric pressure or nearly so. A positive pressure would be created in the liquid phase that would compress the air and eventually remove it from the vessel.

For this latter model to work, it has been claimed that vessel walls and pits would be lined up with hydrophobic material to reduce its permeability to water to close to zero. Hence, vessels would be hydraulically isolated from surrounding tissue and would be just filled via the pits. Both types of models are highly speculative and, in fact, violate basic physical (thermodynamic) principles. They ignore the fact that vessel walls are quite permeable to water (e.g. 70a). The models postulate (in the absence of an active water transport) an uphill movement of water from regions of a low (tissue) to those of a high water potential (xylem lumen), which is not possible. Recently, it has been demonstrated in a model experiment that the observation of cavitated vessels by cryo-scanning electron microscopy may be prone to artifacts (18a, 19a). It was shown that cavitations may occur artifactually during the freezing of samples, even when attempts are made to perform this very rapidly. Furthermore, the frequency at which cavitations occur, may increase when vessels are under tension (see also 54a). When this turns out to be true, the discussion about the filling of cavitated vessels under conditions where other vessels are under high tension and the water potential of surrounding tissue is low, would have to be reconsidered. Test experiments are missing to show that artifacts can be excluded. However, it remains true that mechanisms that are evidently impossible (because they violate basic principles) can a priori be excluded (121).

ROLE OF COHESION-TENSION DURING WATER ACQUISITION AND TRANSPORT BY ROOTS

It has been proposed that the cohesion-tension mechanism causes variability and even adjustment in the hydraulic resistance of the xylem [resistance to longdistance transport of water (92, 117, 118, 122)]. Transpiration under conditions of water shortage should result in high tensions in the xylem that, in turn, may cause vessel dysfunction. When critical tensions are reached, air-seeding will occur across pit membrane pores. Failure of vessels and increased axial resistance would result in an increased tension in remaining intact vessels, which should then also cavitate in a vicious cycle (runaway cavitation). Eventually, reduction of water supply to the shoot would cause negative shoot-water potentials and a closure of stomata. To operate as a feedback system this would require an effective mechanism(s) of refilling of vessels when tensions are switched off during the night (see above). According to the diameter of pit pores, different species may regulate the axial hydraulic resistance at different set points (117).

Regulation of water flow across the SPAC by reversible xylem dysfunction would be a means by which plants could operate under conditions of low water potential and severe drought stress. To function properly it requires that (a) stomata closure is induced at even lower water potentials and that (b) the water supply by the root is not sufficient to balance the water status of the shoot. In the past, there has been a strong emphasis on the former process, i.e. on the output function [regulation of stomatal conductance (21, 47, 87)]. Little attention has been paid to the input function, i.e. to the regulation of water acquisition by roots and how this would be affected by xylem tension. The input function is as important for the water balance as are water losses. The reason for the lack in our knowledge of the input function is that, unlike the shoot, the hydraulic architecture of roots in the soil is much more difficult to assess. Comprehensive understanding of root hydraulics involves the measurement of water relations at the cell and tissue/organ level in addition to the xylem in a developing structure. Root morphology and anatomy must be taken into account, which vary in reponse to growing conditions. Furthermore, there are interactions between solute (nutrient) relations and the water, i.e. there are osmotic processes besides the purely hydraulic movement of water as is usually discussed within the framework of the CT-mechanism. Roots are not just 'hydraulic machines'. Osmotic and even active solute transport processes complicate the analysis of root water. They are most obvious in the phenomenon of root pressure, which relates to active uptake of solutes and plays a role during the water supply of shoots under conditions of low transpiration. In the following, hydraulic properties of plant roots will be reviewed in order to work out possible mechanisms of an adjustment or even a regulation of water uptake according to the needs of the shoot. There will be a focus on the role of cohesion mechanisms during these processes. Most of the results will refer to excised roots (individual roots and root systems), where most of the data have been collected.

VARIABLE ROOT HYDRAULIC RESISTANCE

Root hydraulic resistance (inverse of the root hydraulic conductance) is often adjusted by the size of the root system, i.e. a certain root:shoot ratio is maintained by root growth to supply the shoot with water and nutrients and to allow for mechanical stability of the shoot. Furthermore, water flow is adjusted or is even regulated by a variable hydraulic conductivity of roots at a given size and root system structure (anatomy). Depending on the species and conditions, changes can be up to three orders of magnitude. Since water uptake of a given root is proportional to its surface area, root hydraulic conductivity (root Lp_r) should be referred to unit surface area in m² (if known) and to unit pressure (osmotic or hydrostatic) driving the flow from the soil solution to the root xylem. Hence, root Lp_r would have the dimensions of m³·m⁻²·s⁻¹·MPa⁻¹or m·s⁻¹·MPa⁻¹. That roots increase their hydraulic conductivity according to demands from the shoot, i.e. in response to tensions developing in root xylem, has long been known (8–10,12, 20, 27, 54, 66, 81, 94, 98, 103, 107, 126).

The radial rather than the axial component of water transport limits water uptake by roots (30, 31, 43, 63, 107). Near the root tip, where xylem vessels are not yet fully developed and offer considerable resistance, both radial and axial components have to be taken into account (31, 60). Variable root hydraulic resistance has been explained in terms of different models. Brewig (10) assumed an adjustment of the permeability of root cell membranes. The development of the root's endodermis clearly also plays an important role. In the endodermis, the development of apoplastic barriers (Casparian bands, suberin lamellae, and secondary wall thickening) are thought to interrupt the apoplastic path that forces water to cross membranes. In mature roots, the endodermis is thought to be the major limiting barrier for water uptake at least in mature roots. The exodermis (hypodermis) also plays a role (64, 65, 68, 69, 79, 107, 110, 140); the exodermis undergoes a development similar to that of the endodermis, albeit with a time lag. Under stress conditions, the existence of an exodermis may cause a substantial reduction in the hydraulic conductivity of roots (22, 79, 93, 140). Another component could be plasmodesmata, which may act in a valve-like fashion to allow water uptake under favorable conditions (66, 134).

PATHWAYS FOR WATER AND SOLUTES

The hydraulic and osmotic properties of roots are related to their structure and anatomy, critical data when interpreting root transport. Depending on the species, growth conditions, and developmental state, there are large differences in roots. Roots do not behave like ideal osmometers (62, 96, 98, 105-107), as shown by measuring root reflection coefficients (σ_{sr}) that were smaller than unity, although in some cases values of close to unity have been reported (28, 33). Deviation in the behavior of roots from that of ideal osmometers (in analogy to cells) is caused by some or partial by-pass of water and solutes (nutrients, test solutes) in the apoplast even in the presence of Casparian bands and suberin lamellae in the endo- and exodermis, although these structures impede solute movement depending on the polarity and charge of the latter. Owing to the existence of apoplastic barriers, roots are not leaky, but tend to have permeability coefficients of solutes (nutrient salts) similar to those of cells (96, 140). In addition to the apoplast, there are two more parallel pathways in the root cylinder: the transcellular and the symplastic path. The transcellular path is across cell membranes and is dominated by water channels (aquaporins), whereas the symplastic path is mediated by plasmodesmata. To date, the transcellular and the symplastic pathways have not been separated experimentally, so they are summarized as a cell-to-cell path. However, evidence suggests that the transcellular component is dominating cell-to-cell Lp.

COMPOSITE TRANSPORT MODEL OF ROOT

According to root structure, there will be both hydraulic and osmotic water flow across roots. The relative contribution of the two components varies depending on conditions. The simple view describing water movement across roots in terms of osmotic processes in which root membranes play the dominant role [osmometer model of root (53)] does not hold as does the view that roots can be treated as simple

and constant hydraulic resistors within the SPAC. Both views do not account for adjustments of root Lp_r and low root σ_{sr} . Because there are no membranes along the apoplast, hydraulic flow dominates along this path. Flow across the apoplast is through a porous medium exhibiting no selective properties, i.e. the reflection coefficient of the apoplast will be zero or close to it. Consequently, gradients in osmotic pressure will cause little or no water flow, unlike the cell-to-cell path. Here, osmotic gradients have to be considered besides the hydrostatic ones. Unlike walls, membranes have selective properties; their reflection coefficient is close to unity. Because there are parallel pathways of different selectivity in roots (as in other plant tissue), the intensity by which disparate components of water potential act on the two pathways is different. Responses of roots differ depending on whether there is a difference in either hydrostatic pressure (such as tensions in root xylem during transpiration) or osmotic pressure between xylem sap and soil solution, which causes root pressure in the absence of transpiration. Differences should disappear in the presence of apoplastic barriers that completely interrupt the apoplastic water flow or in the presence of a very high permeability of cell membranes for water. Both extremes, a dominating apoplastic transport in the presence of hydrostatic gradients and a dominating cell-to-cell transport, are found in plant roots (96, 98, 100, 107).

Work with root and cell pressure probes and with other techniques has provided a composite transport model of the root. The composite root structure is comparable to that of membranes, which exhibit arrays of differential permeability and selectivity and form the basis of a composite transport model (48, 101) that has been adapted to roots. The composite transport model of the root explains (*a*) differences between osmotic and hydraulic water flow and the variability of root Lp_r, (*b*) low reflection coefficients, and (*c*) differences in root hydraulics among species.

Differences between hydraulic and osmotic water flow can be considerable: by an order of magnitude in herbaceous species and up to three orders of magnitude in woody species (96, 104, 107). Differences are expected from the composite transport model. In the absence of hydrostatic pressure gradients such as the tension in the root xylem, the apoplastic path should be inefficient because of its low reflection coefficient. Therefore, only the cell-to-cell component is left for water movement, which has a much higher resistance. Hence, when switching from hydrostatic to nonhydrostatic water flow, there should be a change in the resistance as is observed when measuring nonlinear pressure-flow curves of roots (20, 27, 66, 81, 104). The finding explains the unresolved problem of variable hydraulic resistance in terms of a switch between transport models (apoplastic versus cell-to-cell), which is related to the intensity of transpiration and the consequent existence of tensions in the root xylem.

Low reflection coefficients of roots are a consequence of apoplastic by-passes in arrays where Casparian bands are not yet developed, or even of some by-pass flow across the Casparian band itself. The latter conclusion derives from a comparison of root Lp_r and cell Lp, in experiments in which the endodermis was punctured and from chemical analyses of Casparian bands (42a, 70, 85, 86, 99, 100, 105–107,

133, 139). In the presence of two parallel pathways with different reflection coefficients or passive selectivity, reflection coefficients of individual pathways contribute to the overall reflection coefficient according to their hydraulic conductance. In the root, the reflection coefficient of the cell-to-cell pathway will be close to unity and that of the apoplast close to zero. Hence, the overall value should be somewhere in between (as was indeed found). It should depend on the efficiency by which apoplastic barriers interrupt water flow. The model predicts that at low overall hydraulic conductivity, effects of by-passes should be relatively high and root reflection coefficients low, as found for woody species. On the other hand, when artificial by-passes are created, root σ_{sr} decreases, also as expected. Both the abolute values of root σ_{sr} and the differences found between species support the model.

PHYSIOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES OF COMPOSITE TRANSPORT AND ROLE OF COHESION TENSION

The most obvious consequence of the model is that it provides a means of increasing root Lpr as transpiration develops and demands for water from the shoot increase. In terms of the model, this is mediated by an increase in the hydraulic component in the presence of increased tensions in the root xylem. Tensions cause a switch from osmotic cell-to-cell transport to hydraulic apoplastic transport. On the other hand, root Lp, will be low at low rates of transpiration, i.e. during the night and during periods of water stress. Under these conditions, roots will be protected from excessive water loss to the soil by their low root Lp_r . Thus, the composite transport model provides an optimization of the water balance under different conditions, simply by a physical adjustment. This has been termed a coarse regulation of the water balance (96, 98, 100, 107), whereas a fine regulation is obtained by the activity of water channels (see below). As a result of composite transport, roots exhibit a high and adjustable water permeability in the presence of a low solute permeability. These unique transport properties are optimal for roots. They could be hardly achieved by a semipermeable endodermis in which the apoplastic path is completely blocked off (classical model of endodermis). In the context of the cohesion mechanism, tensions in the root xylem caused by a demand for water from the shoot increase root Lp_r , which is useful.

The traditional osmometer model fails to explain the variable Lp_r and low reflection coefficients. The Fiscus model (27) explains the variability in terms of a dilution of xylem sap, i.e. a decrease in the osmotic driving force in the xylem. However, detailed quantitative studies have shown that this cannot fully explain the measured effects (140). Since there are, for technical reasons, no direct measurements of the contribution of plasmodesmata (symplastic transport component), the quantitative contribution of plasmodesmata is not known although it has been suggested to play a role (66, 134). However, since water channels contribute to most of the root cell Lp, the role of plasmodesmata may be much smaller than thought originally (116, 135).

As the composite transport model proposes substantial apoplastic transport of water even in the endo- and exodermis, a considerable drag of solutes such as nutrient salts might also be suggested. However, this is not the case. When apoplastic dyes such as PTS (trisodium 3-hydroxy-5,8,10-pyrenetrisulfonate) are added to the root medium, they are found only in small quantities in the root xylem. Less than 1% of the concentration offered in the root medium has been found in the root xylem of different species, suggesting that PTS is filtered off at the exodermis and endodermis (35, 89, 140). These results compared with the quantitative data available for the overall and cell-to-cell passage of water might also suggest substantial differences between water and ionic and polar dyes used to trace water movement. However, for rice roots it has been proposed that sodium passes apoplastically in much higher quantities than is usually the case for dyes (131, 132).

From experiments on roots of Arabidopsis thaliana, it has recently been proposed that most of the calcium would arrive at the shoot after passing across the root apoplastically (130). There was no competition between Ca^{2+} , Ba^{2+} , and Sr^{2+} added to the mechanism. The conclusions are problematic in view of the fact that Ca^{2+} should move slowly across the apoplast even when there are no apoplastic barriers. Calcium is usually thought to travel with the transpiration stream in the root cortical apoplast up to the endodermis where the Casparian band prevents further movement. An uptake into the endodermal symplast is required (17, 56), using either Ca²⁺-ATPases or Ca²⁺-channels in the presence of a favorable electrochemical potential gradient (26). The thesis of a substantial apoplastic transport of Ca²⁺ was derived from results showing that transpiration linearly increased calcium uptake by the shoot even in the presence of Ba^{2+} and Sr^{2+} (130). Whether Ca²⁺ transport by membrane proteins in the plasmamembrane of endodermal cells is sufficient to allow for the high calcium requirements of the shoot is undetermined. High rates of transcellular calcium flux may also present a problem because of the risk of compromising intracellular Ca^{2+} levels required during $[Ca^{2+}]_{cvt}$ signals. The finding of an apoplastic transport of Ca^{2+} across the entire root cylinder is intriguing, but is at variance to other results which showed that there was no close coupling between Ca²⁺-uptake and water uptake or transpiration (1a, 25a). It differs from results obtained with the root pressure probe during the past two decades (42a, 98, 100, 106). These results indicate that roots behave like osmometers although not as perfect ones. Most of the salts are effectively filtered off at the endo- and exodermis. However, in rice, the contribution of apoplastic transport to the overall uptake of NaCl was much larger than that given for the apoplastic tracer PTS (131, 132). The physicochemical basis of the differences in the selective properties of apoplastic barriers in the root (which may vary during root development) are not yet understood nor is the fine structure of apoplastic barriers known in sufficient detail (42a).

For the stress hormone abscisic acid (ABA), an apoplastic transport across the root cylinder affected by transpiration (cohesion tension) has been proposed in numerous studies with seedlings of maize, sunflower, and aspen (31, 32, 42, 42a, 124, 125). The results indicate a considerable by-pass flow of ABA when added in

nM up to 100 μ M concentrations to the root medium. About 10% of the externally applied concentration of ABA was found in the root xylem. The apoplastic flow of ABA compensated, or even overcompensated, for the dilution by water flow in the xylem. Hence, the ABA signal (xylem concentration) was strongly affected by apoplastic ABA flow. In corn roots, the existence of an exodermis reduced both the flow of water and ABA, but did not change the xylem concentration much. In corn, ABA also specifically affected water channel activity (42). The results show that overall water flow (transpiration), which is usually thought to be regulated with the aid of the stress hormone ABA at the level of stomata, may interact with the ABA signal from the root in some kind of feedback loop. On the other hand, ABA may increase water uptake via water channel activity in the root under nontranspiring conditions, thus inducing water uptake along the cell-to-cell path (42).

ROLE OF COHESION TENSION ON WATER CHANNELS IN ROOTS

Water channels are transmembrane proteins with a molecular weight of about 30 kDa and six transmembrane helices spanning the membrane, thus forming a pore of an internal diameter just sufficient to allow the passage of water in a single file (16, 51, 57, 83, 116). Four of these functional units are arranged in the membrane to form a stable tetramer. Water channels can be reversibly affected by mercurials that bind to SH groups of cysteine (58, 88, 101, 111). The activity of water channels is also affected by high salinity, solute concentration, temperature, heavy metals, oxidative stress, and by the deprivation of nutrients to the roots (15, 36, 36a, 38, 74, 75, 101). In some species, there is a diurnal rhythm in the hydraulic properties (root Lp_r) that correlates with a rhythm in the level of m-RNA encoding for putative aquaporins (18, 37). Whether tension in the xylem or pressure gradients across a root membrane such as at the endodermis could affect the open/closed state of aquaporins is more difficult to answer than whether xylem tensions affect apoplastic water flow. Water potential in the root apoplast is suggested to affect water channel activity (46). In roots, high salinity causes changes in both root Lp_r and root cell Lp, but more extensively in the latter parameter (2, 3). This may be interpreted as an effect of ion concentration or of dehydration of cell membranes and shrinkage of membrane pores caused by tensions within water channels, as once proposed for ion channels (138).

CONCLUSIONS

Older and more recent evidence provides strong support for the cohesion-tension theory of the ascent of sap in plants. The CT-mechanism has a solid physical basis. Direct measurements of xylem pressure in transpiring plants have shown that responses of P_x to changes in transpiration or to pressure applied to the root are as predicted by the cohesion-tension theory. The disagreement found in earlier measurements with the probe performed by Zimmermann and co-workers is most likely due to experimental limitations and artifacts that have not been checked for properly. At present, the limit for the use of pressure probes in the xylem of transpiring plants is at a P_x of about -1 MPa (-10 bar), which is less than the highest tensions of up to 10 MPa (100 bars) claimed to exist in the xylem. Within these limits, measurements of xylem pressure conducted with the probe agreed with those conducted with the Scholander-Hammel bomb. To extend the range of the pressure probe, the technique needs to be further refined.

The cohesion-tension mechanism plays a role during the acquisition of water by plant roots. Tensions provide a strong gradient in hydrostatic pressure that favors the apoplastic component of water uptake in relation to the cell-to-cell component. This results in nonlinear pressure-flow relations (increase of root hydraulic conductivity with increasing xylem tension) and in a coarse regulation of water uptake by plants in accord with the composite transport model of the root. According to the model, tensions in the xylem set up by transpiration cause a switch from cell-to-cell to apoplastic water transport, which increases root hydraulic conductivity and the ability to take up water even at low soil water potential. On the other hand, when transpiration is switched off at night or during water stress, hydraulic resistance would be high, thus minimizing the loss of water to the dry soil. Water channels would provide a fine regulation of water uptake in the presence of effective apoplastic barriers (roots grown under unfavorable conditions). Water channel (aquaporin) activity in plasma membranes of roots is under metabolic control and is affected by many external parameters. It is not yet clear whether water channel activity is also affected by pressure gradients set up across the root cylinder in response to high tensions in the xylem.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank Drs. David T. Clarkson, Department of Plant Sciences, IACR-Long Ashton Research Station, University of Bristol, UK, and Hervé Cochard, INRA Clermont-Ferrand, France, for reading and discussing the manuscript. Financial support from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Schwerpunktprogramm "Apoplast" is acknowledged.

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at www.AnnualReviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Askenasy E. 1895. Über das Saftsteigen. Bot. Zentralbl. 62:237–38
- Atkinson CJ, Ruiz LP, Mansfield TA. 1992. Calcium in xylem sap and the regulation

of its delivery to the shoot. J. Exp. Bot. 43:1315–1324

Azaizeh H, Gunse B, Steudle E. 1992. Effects of NaCl and CaCl₂ on water transport

across root cells of maize (Zea mays L.) seedlings. Plant Physiol. 99:886-94

- Azaizeh H, Steudle E. 1991. Effects of salinity on water transport of excised maize (*Zea mays* L.) roots. *Plant Physiol.* 97:1136–45
- Balling A, Zimmermann U. 1990. Comparative measurements of the xylem pressure of *Nicotiana* plants by means of the pressure bomb and pressure probe. *Planta* 182:325–38
- Begg JE, Turner NC. 1970. Water potential gradients in field tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* 46:343–46
- Berthelot M. 1850. Sur quelques phenomènes de dilatation forcée des liquides. *Ann. Chim. Phys.* 30:2321–42
- Böhm J. 1893. Capillarität und Saftsteigen. Ber. Dtsch. Bot. Ges. 11:203–12
- Boyer JS. 1974. Water transport in plants: mechanism of apparent changes in resistance during absorption. *Planta* 117:187– 207
- 9. Boyer JS. 1985. Water transport. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 36:473–516
- Brewig A. 1937. Permeabilitätsänderungen der Wurzelgewebe, die vom Spross beeinflusst werden. Z. Bot. 31:481–540
- Briggs LJ. 1950. Limiting negative pressure of water. J. Appl. Phys. 21:721–22
- Brouwer R. 1954. The regulating influence of transpiration and suction tension on the water and salt uptake by roots of intact *Vicia faba* plants. *Acta Bot. Neerl.* 3:264– 312
- Canny MJ. 1995. A new theory for the ascent of sap: cohesion supported by tissue pressure. *Ann. Bot.* 75:343–57
- Canny MJ. 1998. Transporting water in plants. Am. Sci. 86:152–59
- Carvajal M, Cooke DT, Clarkson DT. 1996. Responses of wheat plants to nutrition deprivation may involve the regulation of water-channel function. *Planta* 199:372– 81
- Chrispeels MJ, Maurel C. 1994. Aquaporins: the molecular basis of facilitated water

movement through living plant cells. *Plant Physiol.* 105:9–15

- Clarkson DT. 1993. Roots and the delivery of solutes to the xylem. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 341:5–17
- Clarkson DT, Carvajal M, Henzler T, Waterhouse RN, Smyth AJ, et al. 2000. Root hydraulic conductance: diurnal aquaporin expression and the effects of nutrient stress. *J. Exp. Bot.* 51:61–70
- 18a. Cochard H, Bodet C, Ameglio T, Cruiziat P. 2000. Cryo-scanning electron microscopy observations of vessel content during transpiration in walnut petioles. Facts or artifacts? *Plant Physiol.* 124:1191–202
- Cochard H, Cruiziat P, Tyree MT. 1992. Use of positive pressures to establish vulnerability curves: further support for the air-seeding hypothesis and possible problems for pressure-volume analysis. *Plant Physiol.* 100:205–9
- 19a. Cochard H, Ameglio T, Cruiziat P. 2001. The recurrent debate about vessel content in plants. *Trends Plant Sci.* In press
- Colombo SJ, Asselstine MF. 1989. Root hydraulic conductivity and root growth capacity of black spruce (*Picea mariana*) seedlings. *Tree Physiol.* 5:73–81
- 21. Cowan IR. 1977. Stomatal behaviour and environment. Adv. Bot. Res. 4:117–228
- Cruz RT, Jordan WR, Drew MC. 1992. Structural changes and associated reduction of hydraulic conductance in roots of *Sorghum bicolor* L. following exposure to water deficit. *Plant Physiol.* 99:203– 12
- Dixon HH. 1924. The Transpiration Stream. London: Univ. London Press. 80 pp.
- Dixon HH, Joly J. 1894. On the ascent of sap. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc London Ser. B* 186:563–76
- Donny HMF. 1846. Sùr la cohésion des leqùides, et sùr leùr adhérence aùx corps soliders. *Ann. Chim. Phys.* 16:167–90
- 25a. Engels C. 1999. Regulation of xylem transport of calcium from roots to shoots

of maize by growth-related demand. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 162:287–94

- Felle HH, Tretyn A, Wagner G. 1992. The role of the plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase in Ca²⁺ homeostasis in *Sinapis alba* root hairs. *Planta* 188:305–13
- 27. Fiscus EL. 1975. The interaction between osmotic- and pressure-induced water flow in plant roots. *Plant Physiol*. 55:917–22
- Fiscus EL. 1986. Diurnal changes in volume and solute transport coefficients of *Phaseolus* roots. *Plant Physiol.* 80:752–59
- Fisher JC. 1948. The fracture of liquids. J. Appl. Phys. 19:1062–67
- Frensch J. 1998. Primary responses of root and leaf elongation to water deficits in the atmosphere and soil solution. J. *Exp. Bot.* 48:985–99
- Frensch J, Steudle E. 1989. Axial and radial hydraulic resistance to roots of maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Plant Physiol.* 91:719–26
- 32. Freundl E, Steudle E, Hartung W. 1998. Water uptake by roots of maize and sunflower affects the radial transport of abscisic acid and the ABA concentration in the xylem. *Planta* 207:8–19
- Freundl E, Steudle E, Hartung W. 2000. Apoplastic transport of abscisic acid through roots of maize: effect of the exodermis. *Planta* 210:222–31
- Greenidge KNH. 1957. Ascent of sap. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 8:237–56
- Hanson PJ, Sucoff EI, Markhart AH. 1985. Quantifying apoplastic flux through red pine root systems using trisodium 3hydroxy-5,8,10-pyrenetrisulfonate. *Plant Physiol.* 77:21–24
- Henzler T, Steudle E. 1995. Reversible closing of water channels in *Chara* internodes provides evidence for a composite transport model of the plasma membrane. *J. Exp. Bot.* 46:199–209
- 36a. Henzler T, Steudle E. 2000. Transport and metabolic degradation of hydrogen peroxide in *Chara corallina*: model calculations and measurements with the pressure

probe suggest transport of H₂O₂ across water channels. *J. Exp. Bot.* 51:2053–66

- 37. Henzler T, Waterhouse RN, Smyth AJ, Carvajal M, Cooke DT, et al. 1999. Diurnal variations in hydraulic conductivity and root pressure can be correlated with the expression of putative aquaporins in the root of *Lotus japonicus*. *Planta* 210:50–60
- 38. Hertel A, Steudle E. 1997. The function of water channels in *Chara*: the temperature dependence of water and solute flows provides evidence for composite membrane transport and for a slippage of small organic solutes across water channels. *Planta* 202:324–35
- Heydt H, Steudle E. 1991. Measurement of negative pressure in the xylem of excised roots. *Planta* 184:389–96
- 40. Deleted in proof
- Holbrook NM, Burns MJ, Field CB. 1995. Negative xylem pressures in plants: a test of the balancing pressure technique. *Science* 270:1193–94
- 41a. Holbrook NM, Zwienicki MA. 1999. Field CB. 1999. Embolism repair and xylem tension: do we need a miracle? *Plant Physiol.* 120:7–10
- Hose E, Steudle E, Hartung W. 2000. Abscisic acid and the hydraulic conductivity of roots: a cell- and root-pressure probe study. *Planta*. 211:874–82
- 42a. Hose E, Clarkson DT, Steudle E, Schreiber L, Hartung W. 2001. The exodermis—a variable apoplastic barrier. *J. Exp. Bot.* In press
- Hsiao TC, Xu LK. 2000. Growth of roots vs. leaves and other implications of water transport. J. Exp. Bot. 51:1595–616
- Huheey JE, Keiter EA, Keiter RL. 1993. *Inorganic Chemistry. Principles of Struc ture and Reactivity*. New York: Harper Collins
- Hüsken D, Steudle E, Zimmermann U. 1978. Pressure probe technique for measuring water relations of cells in higher plants. *Plant Physiol.* 61:158–63

- 46. Johansson I, Larsson C, Ek B, Kjellbom P. 1996. The major integral proteins of spinach leaf plasma membranes are putative aquaporins and are phoshorylated in response to Ca²⁺ and apoplastic water potential. *Plant Cell* 8:1181–91
- Jones HG. 1998. Stomatal control of photosynthesis and transpiration. J. Exp. Bot. 49:387–98
- Kedem O, Katchalsky A. 1963. Permeability of composite membranes. Part 2. Parallel elements. *Trans. Faraday Soc.* 59:1931–40
- Kenrick FB, Gilbert CB, Wismer KL. 1924. The superheating of liquids. J. Phys. Chem. 28:1297–307
- Kenrik FB, Wismer KL, Wyatt KS. 1924. Supersaturation of gases in liquids. J. Phys. Chem. 28:1308–15
- Kjellbom P, Jarsson C, Johansson I, Karlsson M, Johanson U. 1999. Aquaporins and water homeostasis in plants. *Trends Plant Sci.* 4:308–14
- Kolb KJ, Davis SD. 1994. Droughtinduced xylem embolism in co-occurring species of coastal sage and chaparral of California. *Ecology* 75:648–59
- Kramer PJ, Boyer JS. 1995. Water Relations of Plants and Soils. Orlando: Academic
- 53a. Lange OL, Nobel PS, Osmond CB, Ziegler H, eds. 1982. Encyclopedia of Plant Physiology. Berlin: Springer-Verlag. Vol. 12B
- Lopushinsky W. 1964. Effect of water movement on ion movement into the xylem of tomato roots. *Plant Physiol.* 39:494–501
- Lybeck BR. 1959. Winter freezing in relation to the rise of sap in tall trees. *Plant Physiol.* 34:482–86
- Maris H, Balibar S. 2000. Negative pressure and cavitation in liquid helium. *Phys. Today* 53:29–34
- Marschner H. 1995. Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants. London: Academic
- 56a. Martre P, North GB, Nobel PS. 2001.

Hydraulic conductivity and mercurysensitive water transport for roots of *Opuntia acanthocarpa* in relation to soil drying and rewetting. *Plant Physiol.* In press

- Maurel C. 1997. Aquaporins and water permeability of plant membranes. *Annu Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* 48:399–429
- Maurel C, Reizer J, Schroeder JI, Chrispeels MJ. 1993. The vacuolar membrane protein gamma-TIP creates water specific channels in *Xenopus* oocytes. *EMBO J.* 12:2241–47
- 59. Melcher PJ, Meinzer FC, Yount DE, Goldstein G, Zimmermann U. 1998. Comparative measurements of xylem pressure in transpiring and nontranspiring leaves by means of the pressure chamber and the xylem pressure probe. *J. Exp. Bot.* 49:1757–60
- Melchior W, Steudle E. 1993. Water transport in onion (*Allium cepa* L.) roots. Changes of axial and radial hydraulic conductivities during root development. *Plant Physiol.* 101:1305–15
- Milburn JA. 1996. Sap ascent in vascular plants: challenges to the cohesion theory ignore the significance of immature xylem and the recycling of Münch water flow. *Ann. Bot.* 78:399–407
- 62. Miller DM. 1985. Studies of root function in Zea mays. III. Xylem sap composition at maximum root pressure provides evidence of active transport into the xylem and a measurement of the reflection coefficient of the root. *Plant Physiol.* 77:162– 67
- North GB, Nobel PS. 1991. Changes in hydraulic conductivity and anatomy caused by drying and rewetting roots of *Agave desertii* (Agavaceae). *Am. J. Bot.* 78:906–15
- North GB, Nobel PS. 1995. Hydraulic conductivity of concentric root tissues of *Agave deserti* Engelm. under wet and drying conditions. *New Phytol.* 130:47–57
- 65. North GB, Nobel PS. 1996. Radial

hydraulic conductivity of individual root tissues of *Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Miller as soil moisture varies. *Ann. Bot.* 77:133– 42

- Passioura JB. 1988. Water transport in and to roots. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 39:245–65
- 67. Passioura JB. 1991. An impasse in plant water relations? *Bot. Acta* 104:405–11
- Peterson CA. 1988. Exodermal Casparian bands: their significance for ion uptake in roots. *Physiol. Plant.* 72:204–8
- 69. Peterson CA, Emanuel ME, Humphreys GB. 1981. Pathways of movement of apoplastic fluorescent dye tracers through the endodermis at the site of secondary root formation in corn (*Zea mays*) and broad bean (*Vicia faba*). *Can. J. Bot.* 59:618–25
- Peterson CA, Murrmann M, Steudle E. 1993. Location of major barriers to water and ion movement in young roots of *Zea* mays L. Planta 190:127–36
- 70a. Peterson CA, Steudle E. 1993. Lateral hydraulic conductivity of early metaxalem vessels in *Zea mays* L. roots. *Planta* 189:288–297
- Pfeffer W. 1897. Pflanzenphysiologie. Ein Handbuch der Lehre vom Stoffwechsel und Kraftwechsel der Pflanze. Erster Band: Stoffwechsel. Leipzig: Verlag Engelmann
- Plumb RC, Bridgman WB. 1972. Ascent of sap in trees. *Science* 176:1129–31
- Pockman WT, Sperry JS, O'Leary JW. 1995. Sustained and significant negative water pressure in xylem. *Nature* 378:715– 16
- Radin J, Eidenbock MP. 1984. Hydraulic conductance as a factor limiting leaf expansion of phosphorus-deficient cotton plants. *Plant Physiol.* 75:372–77
- Radin JW, Matthews MA. 1989. Water transport properties of cells in the root cortex of nitrogen- and phosphorousdeficient cotton seedlings. *Plant Physiol.* 89:264–68

- Renner O. 1911. Experimentelle Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Wasserbewegung. Flora (Leipzig) 103:171–247
- 77. Reynolds O. 1882. On the internal cohesion of liquids and the suspension of a column of mercury to a height of more than double that of the barometer. *Mem. Manch. Lit. Philos. Soc.* 7:1–19
- Reynolds O. 1901. Papers on Mechanical and Physical Subjects, 2:578–87. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Rieger M, Litvin P. 1999. Root system hydraulic conductivity in species with contrasting root anatomy. J. Exp. Bot. 50:201– 09
- Roedder E. 1967. Metastable superheated ice in liquid-water inclusions under high negative pressure. *Science* 155:1413– 16
- Rüdinger M, Hallgren SW, Steudle E, Schulze ED. 1994. Hydraulic and osmotic properties of spruce roots. *J. Exp. Bot.* 45:1413–25
- Sachs J. 1865. Handbuch der Experimentalphysiologie der Pflanzen. Leipzig: Verlag Engelmann
- Schäffner AR. 1998. Aquaporin function, structure, and expression: There are still surprises to come up in water relations. *Planta* 204:131–39
- Scholander PF Hammel HT, Bradstreet ED, Hemmingsen EA. 1965. Sap pressure in vascular plants. *Science* 148:339–46
- Schreiber L, Breiner HW, Riederer M, Düggelin M, Guggenheim R. 1994. The Casparian strip of *Clivia miniata* Reg. roots: isolation, fine structure and chemical nature. *Bot. Acta* 107:353–61
- Schreiber L, Hartmann K, Skrabs M, Zeier J. 1999. Apoplastic barriers in roots: chemical composition of endodermal and hypodermal cell walls. *J. Exp. Bot.* 50:1267– 80
- Schulze ED. 1986. Carbon dioxide and water vapor exchange in response to drought in the atmosphere and soil. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol.* 37:247–74

- Schütz K, Tyerman SD. 1997. Water channels in *Chara corallina*. J. Exp. Bot. 48:1511–18
- Skinner RH, Radin JW. 1994. The effect of phosphorus nutrition on water flow through the apoplastic bypass of cotton roots. J. Exp. Bot. 45:423–28
- 89a. In Smith JAC, Griffith H, eds. 1993. Water Deficits: Plant Responses from Cell to Community. Oxford: BIOS Sci.
- Speedy RJ. 1982. Stability-limit conjecture. An interpretation of the properties of water. J. Phys. Chem. 86:982–91
- Sperry JS, Saliendra NZ, Pockman WT, Cochard H, Cruiziat P, et al. 1996. New evidence for large negative xylem pressures and their measurement by the pressure chamber method. *Plant Cell Environ*. 19:427–36
- Sperry JS, Tyree MT. 1988. Mechanism of water-stress-induced xylem embolism. *Plant Physiol.* 88:581–87
- Stasovsky E, Peterson CA. 1993. Effects of drought and subsequent rehydration on the structure, vitality and permeability of *Allium cepa* adventitious roots. *Can. J. Bot.* 71:700–7
- Steudle E. 1989. Water flows in plants and its coupling with other processes: an overview. *Methods Enzymol.* 174:183– 225
- Steudle E. 1993. Pressure probe techniques: basic principles and application to studies of water and solute relations at the cell, tissue, and organ level. See Ref. 89a, pp. 5–36
- Steudle E. 1994. Water transport across roots. *Plant Soil* 167:79–90
- 97. Steudle E. 1995. Trees under tension. *Nature* 378:663–64
- Steudle E. 2000. Water uptake by roots: effects of water deficit. J. Exp. Bot. 51:1531–42
- Steudle E, Frensch J. 1989. Osmotic responses of maize roots: water and solute relations. *Planta* 177:281–95
- 100. Steudle E, Frensch J. 1996. Water trans-

port in plants: role of the apoplast. *Plant Soil* 187:67–79

- Steudle E, Henzler T. 1995. Water channels in plants: Do basic concepts of water transport change? J. Exp. Bot. 46:1067– 76
- 102. Steudle E, Heydt H. 1988. An artificial osmotic cell: a model system for simulating osmotic processes and for studying phenomena of negative pressure in plants, *Plant Cell Environ*. 11:629–37
- 103. Steudle E, Heydt H. 1997. Water transport across tree roots. In *Trees—Contributions* to Modern Tree Physiology, ed. H Rennenberg, W Eschrich, H Ziegler, pp. 239– 55. Leiden, The Netherlands: Backhuys
- Steudle E, Meshcheryakov AB. 1996. Hydraulic and osmotic properties of oak roots. J. Exp. Bot. 47:387–401
- 105. Steudle E, Murrmann M, Peterson CA. 1993. Transport of water and solutes across maize roots modified by puncturing the endodermis. Further evidence for the composite transport model of the root. *Plant Physiol.* 103:335–49
- 106. Steudle E, Oren R, Schulze ED. 1987. Water transport in maize roots. *Plant Physiol.* 84:1220–32
- Steudle E, Peterson CA. 1998. How does water get through roots? J. Exp. Bot. 49:775–88
- 108. Steudle E, Zimmermann U. 1971. Hydraulische Leitfähigkeit von Valonia utricularis. Z. Naturforsch. Teil B 26:1276–82
- 109. Strasburger E. 1891. Über den Bau und die Verrichtungen der Leitungsbahnen in Pflanzen. Jena: Fischer
- Taleisnik E, Peyrano G, Cordoba A, Arias C. 1999. Water retention capacity in root segments differing in the degree of exodermis development. *Ann. Bot.* 83:19– 27
- 111. Tazawa M, Asai K, Iwasaki N. 1996. Characteristics of Hg- and Zn-sensitive water channels in the plasma membrane of *Chara* cells. *Bot. Acta* 109:388–96

- 112. Temperley HNV. 1947. The behaviour of water under hydrostatic tension III. *Proc. Phys. Soc. London* 59:199–208
- Tomos AD, Leigh RA. 1999. The pressure probe: a versatile tool in plant cell physiology. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* 50:447–72
- 114. Trevena DH. 1987. Cavitation and Tension in Liquids. Bristol, UK: Adam Hilger
- Turner NC. 1981. Correction of flow resistances of plants measured from covered and exposed leaves. *Plant Physiol.* 68:1090–92
- 116. Tyerman SD, Bohnert HJ, Maurel C, Steudle E, Smith JAC. 1999. Plant aquaporins: their molecular biology, biophysics and significance for plant water relations. J. Exp. Bot. 50:1055–71
- Tyree MT. 1997. The cohesion-tension theory of sap ascent. current controversies. J. Exp. Bot. 48:1753–65
- Tyree MT, Davis SD, Cochard H. 1994. Biophysical perspectives of xylem evolution: Is there a tradeoff of hydraulic efficiency for vulnerability dysfunction? *IAWA J.* 15:335–60
- 119. Tyree MT, Hammel HT. 1972. The measurement of the turgor pressure and the water relations of plants by the pressurebomb technique. *J. Exp. Bot.* 23:267– 82
- Tyree MT, Jarvis PG. 1982. Water in tissues and cells. See Ref. 53a, pp. 35–77
- 121. Tyree MT, Salleo S, Nardini A, Assunta Lo Gullo M, Mosca R. 1999. Refilling of embolized vessels in young stems of laurel. Do we need a new paradigm? *Plant Physiol.* 120:11–22
- 122. Tyree MT, Sperry JS. 1989. The vulnerability of xylem to cavitation and embolism. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 40:19–38
- Ursprung A. 1915. Über die Kohäsion des Wassers im Farnannulus. Ber. Dtsch. Bot. Ges. 33:153–62
- 123a. van den Honert TH. 1948. Water trans-

port in plants as a catenary process. *Discuss. Faraday Soc.* 3:146–53

- Wan X, Zwiazek JJ. 1999. Mercuric chloride effects on root water transport in aspen seedlings. *Plant Physiol.* 121:939–46
- 125. Wan X, Zwiazek JJ. 2001. Root water flow and leaf stomatal conductance in aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) transport in aspen seedlings. *Planta*. In press
- Weatherley PE. 1982. Water uptake and flow into roots. See Ref. 53a, pp. 79– 109
- Wei C, Steudle E, Tyree MT. 1999. Water ascent in plants: Do ongoing controversies have a sound basis? *Trends Plant Sci*. 4:372–5
- Wei C, Steudle E, Tyree MT. 2000. Reply: Water ascent in plants. *Trends Plant Sci*. 5:146–47
- 129. Wei C, Tyree MT, Steudle E. 1999. Direct measurement of xylem pressure in leaves of intact maize plants: a test of cohesion-tension theory taking into account hydraulic architecture. *Plant Physiol.* 121:1191–205
- White PJ. 2001. The pathways of calcium movement to the xylem. J. Exp. Bot. In press
- 131. Yadav R, Flowers TJ, Yeo AR. 1996. The involvement of the transpirational bypass flow in sodium uptake by high- and low-sodium-transporting lines of rice developed through intravariental selection. *Plant Cell Environ.* 19:329–36
- Yeo AR, Yeo ME, Flowers TJ. 1987. The contribution of an apoplastic pathway to sodium uptake by rice roots in saline conditions. J. Exp. Bot. 192:1141–53
- 133. Zeier J, Schreiber L. 1998. Comparative investigation of primary and tertiary endodermal cell walls isolated from the roots of five monocotyledoneous species: chemical composition in relation to root fine structure. *Planta* 206:349–61
- Zhang WH, Tyerman SD. 1991. Effect of low O₂ concentration and azide on hydraulic conductivity and osmotic volume

of the cortical cells of wheat roots. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.* 18:603–13

- 135. Zhang WH, Tyerman SD. 1999. Inhibition of water channel activity by HgCl₂ in intact wheat root cells. *Plant Physiol.* 120:849–58
- 136. Zheng Q, Durben DJ, Wolf GH, Angell CA. 1991. Liquids at large negative pressures: water at the homogenous nucleation limit. *Science* 254:829–32
- Zhu JJ, Steudle E, Beck E. 1989. Negative pressure produced in an artificial osmotic cell by extracellular freezing. *Plant Physiol.* 91:1454–59
- 138. Zimmerberg J, Parsegian VA. 1986. Polymer inaccessible volume changes during opening and closing of a voltage-dependent ionic channel. *Nature* 323:36–39
- 139. Zimmermann HM, Hartmann K, Schreiber L, Steudle E. 2000. Chemical composition of apoplastic transport barriers in relation to radial hydraulic conductivity of corn roots (*Zea mays L.*). *Planta* 210:302–11
- 140. Zimmermann HM, Steudle E. 1998. Apoplastic transport across young maize roots: effects of the exodermis. *Planta* 206:7–19

- Zimmermann MH. 1983. Xylem structure and the Ascent of Sap. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 143 pp.
- 142. Zimmermann U, Benkert R, Schneider J, Rygol J, Zhu JJ, Zimmermann G. 1993. Xylem pressure and transport in higher plants and tall trees. See Ref. 89a, pp. 87– 108
- 143. Zimmermann U, Haase A, Langbein D, Meinzer FC. 1993. Mechanism of longdistance water transport in plants: a reexamination of some paradigms in the light of new evidence. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 341:19–31
- 144. Zimmermann U, Meinzer FC, Benkert R, Zhu JJ, Schneider H, et al. 1994. Xylem water transport: Is the available evidence consistent with the cohesion-tension theory? *Plant Cell Environ.* 17:1169–81
- 145. Zimmermann U, Wagner HJ, Schneider H, Rokitta M, Haase A, Bentrup FW. 2000. Water ascent in plants: the ongoing debate. *Trends Plant Sci.* 5:145–46
- 146. Zwienicki MA, Holbrook NM. 2000. Bordered pit structure vessel wall surface properties. Implications from embolism and repair. *Plant Physiol.* 123:1015– 20



Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology Annual Kevien, 5 Volume 52, 2001

CONTENTS

FIFTY YEARS AS A PLANT PHYSIOLOGIST, James HM Henderson ALKALOID BIOSYNTHESIS IN PLANTS: Biochemistry, Cell Biology,	1
Molecular Regulation, and Metabolic Engineering Applications, Peter J	
Facchini	29
HOW GIBBERELLIN REGULATES PLANT GROWTH AND	
DEVELOPMENT: A Molecular Genetic Analysis of Gibberellin	
Signaling, Donald E Richards, Kathryn E King, Tahar Ait-ali, Nicholas P	
Harberd	67
CYTOKININ METABOLISM AND ACTION David WS Mok	0,
Machtald C Mok	80
ONE CADRON METAROLISM IN LICHED DI ANTS Andrew D	0)
Ungen Sania Deie	110
CID CA DIANI DINYTHING IN DIANTE, C.D. L. C. M. CL	119
CIRCADIAN RHY IHMS IN PLANIS, C Robertson McClung	139
MACKONUTRIENT UTILIZATION BY PHOTOSYNTHETIC	
EUKARYOTES AND THE FABRIC OF INTERACTIONS, Arthur	
Grossman, Hideki Takahashi	163
PLANT PHOSPHOLIPASES, Xuemin Wang	211
ENDOSPERM DEVELOPMENT: Cellularization and Cell Fate	
Specification, Odd-Arne Olsen	233
MECHANISTIC FEATURES OF THE MO-CONTAINING	
NITROGENASE, Jason Christiansen, Dennis R Dean, Lance C Seefeldt	269
MOLECULAR ENGINEERING OF C4 PHOTOSYNTHESIS, Makoto	
Matsuoka, Robert T Furbank, Hiroshi Fukavama, Mitsue Mivao	297
THE PLASTID DIVISION MACHINE. Katherine W Ostervoung.	
Rosemary S McAndrew	315
VARIATIONS IN THE BIOSYNTHESIS OF SEED-STORAGE LIPIDS	515
Toni Voelkar, Anthony I Kinney	335
Toni voeiker, minony 5 Kinney	555
CHIAMYDOMONAS AS A MODEL ORGANISM Elizabeth H Harris	363
ISOPRENE EMISSION FROM PLANTS Thomas D Sharkey Sansun	505
Vah	407
DIOSVNTHESIS OF ASCORDIC ACID IN DI ANTS: A Densissance	407
BIOSTINITESIS OF ASCORDIC ACID IN FLANTS. A Reliaissance,	427
Nicholas Smirnoff, Patricia L Conklin, Frank A Loewus	437
IONOPLAST TRANSPORTERS: Organization and Function,	
Masayoshi Maeshima	469
PROBING PLANT METABOLISM WITH NMR, R George Ratcliffe,	
Yair Shachar-Hill	499
EUNCTION AND MECHANICM OF ODCANIC AND A DUDA TO A	
FUNCTION AND INECTAINISIN OF OKGAINIC ANION EXUDATION	<i></i>
FKUM FLANI KUUIS, FK Ryan, E Delhaize, DL Jones	527
PLAN1 MITOCHONDRIA AND OXIDATIVE STRESS: Electron	
Transport, NADPH Turnover, and Metabolism of Reactive Oxygen	
Species, Ian M Møller	561
PHOTOSYSTEM I: Function and Physiology, Parag R Chitnis	593
GUARD CELL SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION, Julian I Schroeder, Gethyn	
J Allen, Veronique Hugouvieux, June M Kwak, David Waner	627

TRANSPORTERS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE UPTAKE AND	
PARTITIONING OF NITROGENOUS SOLUTES, LE Williams, AJ	
Miller	659
DEFENSIVE RESIN BIOSYNTHESIS IN CONIFERS, Susan Trapp,	
Rodney Croteau	689
MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF FRUIT MATURATION AND	
RIPENING, Jim Giovannoni	725
CYTOKINESIS AND BUILDING OF THE CELL PLATE IN PLANTSDesh Pal S Verma	751
RIBOSOME-INACTIVATING PROTEINS: A Plant Perspective, Kirsten	751
RIBOSOME-INACTIVATING PROTEINS: A Plant Perspective, <i>Kirsten</i> Nielsen, Rebecca S Boston	751 785
RIBOSOME-INACTIVATING PROTEINS: A Plant Perspective, <i>Kirsten</i> <i>Nielsen, Rebecca S Boston</i> PLANT PLASMA MEMBRANE H+-ATPases: Powerhouses for Nutrient	751 785
RIBOSOME-INACTIVATING PROTEINS: A Plant Perspective, <i>Kirsten</i> <i>Nielsen, Rebecca S Boston</i> PLANT PLASMA MEMBRANE H+-ATPases: Powerhouses for Nutrient Uptake, <i>Michael G Palmgren</i>	751 785 817
RIBOSOME-INACTIVATING PROTEINS: A Plant Perspective, <i>Kirsten</i> <i>Nielsen, Rebecca S Boston</i> PLANT PLASMA MEMBRANE H+-ATPases: Powerhouses for Nutrient Uptake, <i>Michael G Palmgren</i> THE COHESION-TENSION MECHANISM AND THE ACQUISITION	751 785 817